
CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL

Friday, 1st June, 2018

10.00 am

Darent Room - Sessions House





AGENDA

CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL

Friday, 1st June, 2018, at 10.00 am Ask for: Theresa Grayell
Darent Room - Sessions House

Telephone 03000 416172
Tea/Coffee will be available 15 minutes before the meeting 

Membership 

Mrs A D Allen, MBE (Chairman), Mrs T Dean, MBE (Vice-Chairman), Mrs T Carpenter, 
Mr G Cooke, Mr T Doran, Ms S Dunn, Ms S Dunstan, Mr D Farrell, Ms L Fisher, 
Mrs L Game, Mrs S Gent, Mr R Graves, Mr S Gray, Mr S Griffiths, Ms S Hamilton, 
Mrs S Hammond, Mr A Heather, Mr G Lymer, Ms C Moody, Ms C  Mutton, Mr M J Northey, 
Mrs S Prendergast, Ms N Sayer, Ms C Smith and Ms S Vaux

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS
(During these items the meeting is likely to be open to the public)

The Chairman will assume that all Members will read the reports before attending the 
meeting.  Officers are asked to assume the same when introducing reports.

The Chairman will open the meeting. The first item of business will be a motion to exclude 
the press and public for item 1, as set out below.

MOTION TO EXCLUDE PRESS AND PUBLIC FOR EXEMPT BUSINESS
That, under Section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972, the press and 
public be excluded from the meeting for the following business on the grounds 
that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in 
paragraphs 1 and 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

EXEMPT ITEMS
1 The views of Young People in Care - a party of young people will attend 

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS
(During these items the meeting is likely to be open the public)

2 Membership 
The Panel is asked to note that:



 Hazel Smith and Bethan Haskins have left the Panel as they have moved 
from their respective clinical commissioning groups.

 Sarah Vaux, Chief Nurse for Medway Clinical Commissioning Group, has 
joined the Panel. 

3 Apologies and substitutes 

4 Minutes of the meeting of the Panel held on 22 March 2018 (Pages 5 - 16)

5 Chairman's Announcements 

6 Verbal Update from Our Children and Young People's Council (OCYPC) 

7 Verbal Update by Cabinet Member (Pages 17 - 18)

8 Performance scorecard for Children in Care (Pages 19 - 32)

9 Review and update of the Sufficiency, Placements and Commissioning Strategy 
- 2015-2018 (Pages 33 - 38)

10 Revision of rates payable and charges levied for Children's Services in 2018-19 
(Pages 39 - 48)

11 Virtual School Kent validated summer 2017 results report (Pages 49 - 56)

12 Corporate Parenting pilot scheme: Kent County Council acting as a guarantor for 
Care Leavers (Pages 57 - 60)

EXEMPT ITEMS
(At the time of preparing the agenda there were no exempt items, other than Item 1.  During 

any such items which may arise the meeting is likely NOT to be open to the public)

Benjamin Watts
General Counsel
03000 416814

Wednesday, 23 May 2018

Please note that any background documents referred to in the accompanying papers 
maybe inspected by arrangement with the officer responsible for preparing the relevant 
report.



KENT COUNTY COUNCIL

CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL

MINUTES of a meeting of the Corporate Parenting Panel held in Darent Room - 
Sessions House on Thursday, 22 March 2018.

PRESENT: Mrs A D Allen, MBE (Chairman), Mrs T Dean, MBE (Vice-Chairman), 
Mr M A C Balfour (Substitute for Mrs S Gent), Mrs T Carpenter, Mr G Cooke, 
Ms S Dunstan, Mr D Farrell, Ms L Fisher, Mr R Graves, Ms S Hamilton, 
Mrs S Hammond, Mr A Heather, Mr G Lymer, Ms C Moody, Mr M J Northey, 
Ms N Sayer and Ms C Smith

IN ATTENDANCE: Mr M Dunkley CBE (Corporate Director for Children Young 
People and Education), Ms J Carpenter (School Bursar and Project Officer, Virtual 
School Kent) and Miss T A Grayell (Democratic Services Officer)

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS

61. Membership 
(Item 1)

It was noted that Bethan Haskins had re-joined the Panel in place of Alison Brett.  

62. Apologies and Substitutes 

Apologies for absence had been received from Tony Doran, Lesley Game, Sue Gent, 
Stephen Gray and the Cabinet Member for Children, Young People and Education, 
Roger Gough.   

Matthew Balfour was present as a substitute for Sue Gent.  

63. Minutes of the meeting of the Panel held on 29 January 2018 
(Item 3)

1. It was RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 29 January 2018 
are correctly recorded and they be signed by the Chairman.

2. The Chairman added that she had sought again to have the Panel’s minutes 
included on the agenda for meetings of the full County Council, to raise the profile of 
the Panel’s work.      

64. Chairman's Announcements 
(Item 4)

The Chairman announced that she had recently provided a written foreword for the 
draft Children Looked After (CLA) and Care Leavers Strategy 2018-22, and 
suggested that the final strategy be considered by the Panel at a future meeting. The 
Adoption Conference would take place on 23 March and several members of the 
Panel would be attending.       

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



65. Verbal Update from Our Children and Young People's Council (OCYPC) 
(Item 5)

1. Ms Dunstan and Mr Graves gave a verbal update on the work of the OCYPC, 
the Super Council and the Young Adults Council. The text of the update will be 
attached to the final version of these minutes.

2. The update included the list of forthcoming participation and engagement 
events, to which Panel members were invited, and it was agreed that the text of the 
update be circulated after the meeting so all members had the details of the dates 
and venues.  A flyer and invitation to the Virtual School Kent Talent Showcase on 1 
June had also been tabled, and a copy of this would be sent to all Panel members. 

3. Ms Dunstan, Mr Graves, Ms Carpenter and Ms Smith responded to comments 
and questions from Panel members, including the following:-

a) plans were in hand to film the talent showcase on 1 June so that any Panel 
member unable to attend could view it later.  However, it was hoped that as 
many as possible would attend to support the young people taking part;

b) the County Council’s communications team had been involved in the 
production of a film addressing the stigma of being in care, and it was 
hoped that this could be shown to the Panel at a later date, and possibly to 
the full County Council.  Participants in the film would be aged over 16 so 
would be able to give consent for the completed film to be shown in public 
and placed on YouTube. Mr Dunkley added that a filmed interview with 
Lemn Sissay, celebrating the good things about being in care, could also 
be shared with Panel members;

c) support groups for boys would be starting shortly, following the success of 
the pilot project of girls’ groups;

d) a scheme in which the County Council could offer or arrange 
apprenticeships for Kent’s care leavers was once again suggested, as this 
would be a very tangible way for the Council to support its young people 
into work; and   

e) having struggled in the past, the Thanet area was now served by a good 
Children In Care Council (CICC) and this was welcomed.  

4. It was RESOLVED that the update be noted, with thanks. 

The information referred to italics above was circulated to all Panel members after 
the meeting.   

66. Corporate Parenting Challenge Card Update - "KCC acting as a guarantor 
for Care Leavers" 
(Item 6)

1. Mr Dunkley introduced the report and, with Ms Hammond and Ms Smith, 
responded to comments and questions from the Panel, including the following:-

Page 6



a) the establishment of a guarantor scheme was welcomed as it placed the 
County Council as a corporate parent in the same position as a natural 
parent in supporting a young person into independent accommodation;

b) more detail of the pilot scheme was requested and it was agreed that an 
overview of it be included on the agenda for the Panel’s 1 June meeting; 

c) the guarantor scheme would be offered to young people who were 
sufficiently mature and ready to take on the responsibility of independent 
accommodation but would benefit from having a financial safety net.  The 
presence of the guarantor scheme would not mean that anyone considered 
unready to take this step would be helped into it if it were not the right thing 
for them. Focussing on the suitability of young people would help the 
County Council to manage and minimise the risk element of the scheme;  

d) a pilot guarantor scheme had been run successfully by Devon County 
Council for one year, starting with a small cohort of young people, renting 
mainly private sector and university accommodation, and then opening up 
to include all care leavers. The overview report of the Kent pilot scheme 
would include an example of application and other paperwork and 
assessment criteria used in Devon, and a report of the findings from their 
pilot scheme;

e) the development of the guarantor scheme had highlighted the issue of 
local authorities using their own housing stock to accommodate care 
leavers. Some local authorities exempted care leavers from paying council 
tax. Both of these issues could be investigated with housing partners in 
district councils;

f) it was pointed out that care leavers continuing in full time education were 
exempted from paying council tax, while those in apprenticeships were 
not. This disparity should be addressed; 

g) asked about the potential costs of the scheme, if young people were to 
default on payments and require the County Council to cover their costs, 
and how anyone defaulting would continue to be supported, Mr Dunkley 
explained that, if a young person were not taking up a private rental and 
needing a guarantor, the County Council would need to pay to 
accommodate them in some other type of housing, at greater cost. Ms 
Hammond added that the guarantor scheme could benefit both the local 
authority and the young person. She offered to supply some estimated 
figures on the potential for defaulters and the likely costs;

h) foster carers on the Panel confirmed that they had received training in 
helping young people to prepare for adulthood and access independent 
accommodation. This included a booklet on transition, of which all foster 
carers should be aware, as a resource. The advent of the guarantor 
scheme offered a way of supporting young people which was simply not 
possible for a foster carer to take on individually; and 

Page 7



i) Mr Dunkley was thanked for revisiting the challenge and persevering with 
the concept of a local authority guarantor. 

2. It was RESOLVED that:-

a) the challenge card progress to date, and the implications for the County 
Council acting as a guarantor, be noted; and

b) the County Council acting as a guarantor for care leavers, with a proposal 
to undertake a pilot scheme to inform a wider policy change, be supported 
in principal.  

         
67. Verbal Update by the Deputy Cabinet Member 
(Item 7)

1. As Deputy Cabinet Member, the Chairman gave a verbal update on the 
following issues:-

Statutory guidance regarding children in care and care leavers – recent new 
statutory guidance from government regarding section 4 of the Children and Social 
Work Act 2014 included an expanded role for the Virtual School Kent head teacher in 
support of children in care and previously in care and an extension of the personal 
advisor role for young people in care up to the age of 25.  County and district councils 
would need to work closely together to better support care leavers, particularly in 
housing. 
National review of fostering services – the Government had commissioned Martin 
Narey to undertake a national review of fostering services. Several key reports on the 
service had been published recently, to which the Government was expected to 
respond shortly. Issues raised in these reports included a challenge to the role and 
effectiveness of the Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO) service and the potential to 
establish a national database to link children seeking to be fostered to a full range of 
fostering options. 
Unaccompanied asylum seeking children (UASC) – There were currently 244 
UASC and 872 UASC care leavers in Kent, a total of 1,116. Only 23 new UASC had 
arrived in Kent since January 2018. 
  
2. Ms Hammond added that, as it had dropped dramatically in recent months, the 
number of UASC in Kent was approaching the number (231) which would be Kent’s 
‘share’ of the UASC in the whole of the UK, a figure which had been identified when 
the National Transfer Scheme was established.   

3. Panel members made the following comments:-

a) the challenge to the role of IROs caused concern. What was needed was 
more IROs, but it was feared that a review might lead to a reduction in 
numbers or a diminution of their role. Ms Carpenter advised that a meeting 
on 21 March with the Children’s Minister had included appreciative 
contributions from young people about the value of their IROs as a long-
term support. Ms Fisher added that the IRO service was also a vital 
support for young people in custody; and

Page 8



b) Ms Smith said that work was continuing on the form of an extended Virtual 
School Kent head teacher role in respect of young people up to the age of 
25.  The Chairman added that it would be most helpful for the Panel to 
have a set of bullet points setting out the different aspects of the new 
statutory guidance.  

4. It was RESOLVED that the verbal updates be noted, with thanks. Reports on 
the new statutory guidance and the national review of the fostering service would be 
added to the work programme.  

68. Performance scorecard for Children in Care 
(Item 8)

Mrs M Robinson, Management Information Service Manager, was in attendance for 
this and the following item. 

1. Mrs Robinson introduced the report and highlighted the inclusion, with the usual 
scorecard, of details of target setting for the 2018/19 year. Targets were a 
combination of national and local key performance indicators (KPIs), and the County 
Council had more control over the latter. There were three areas of change:

 one KPI had been removed:  the number of adoption cases in which it had 
taken longer than four months to reach a decision. Few took longer than this 
time, and those which did took only a little time longer than the target;
  

 two new KPIs had been introduced: i) the percentage of Education and Health 
Care Plans issued within 20 weeks for children in care, and ii) the overall 
number of interviews undertaken with young people returning from being 
missing, not just those completed within 72 hours of return;

 The target for one KPI had changed: the number of initial health assessments 
for children coming into care. The County Council target of 90% would be 
reduced to match the NHS target of 85%.  

 Some minor changes to the red, amber and green (RAG) bandings had been 
applied for 2018/19.

2. Mrs Robinson and Ms Hammond then responded to comments and questions 
from the Panel, including the following:-

a) Panel members were reassured that, although an unusually large number of 
social workers had taken maternity leave at the same time, this did not mean 
that young people were without a social worker; they had simply had to move 
to a new social worker. The children in care service continued to show a good 
level of stability; and

b) a restructure of the Disabled Children’s Service had coincided with the above. 
Any such change always carried a risk that it would cause some disruption to 
service. 

3. Mr Dunkley advised that the Corporate Parenting Panel needed to see more 
detail of performance than was reported to the Children’s, Young People and 

Page 9



Education Cabinet Committee, and was being asked to give a view on the quantity 
and helpfulness of the information reported. He assured the Panel that all data 
relating to the existing KPIs would continue to be collected by officers as a matter of 
best practice, but reporting it all to the Panel may not be desirable or necessary.
  
4. It was RESOLVED that the performance data in the children in care scorecard 

and the target setting document for 2018-19 be noted and welcomed, and that 
the reporting of the above continue as at present. 

69. Quarter 3 Health Initial Health Assessment Data Overview 
(Item 9)

1. Ms Sayer introduced the report, which had been prepared at the request of the 
Panel, and summarised the data presented.  Ms Sayer and Mrs Robinson set out 
how the information collected by the NHS related to that collated on the County 
Council’s Liberi database and how they would work together to make this reporting 
as clear and coherent as possible. As a result of joint working, a weekly report of any 
outstanding requests for health assessments was sent from the Council’s 
management information unit to NHS colleagues. Ms Sayer responded to comments 
and questions from the Panel, including the following:-

a) arranging health assessments for young people in secure accommodation 
was a challenge.  Ms Sayer clarified that they would only qualify for a health 
assessment if they were already in care before entering custody. If they 
entered care as a result of entering custody, they would be subject to a 
different process. Ms Sayer and Ms Fisher confirmed that they would work 
together on the health issues arising for young people in secure 
accommodation; 

b) the methods of recording health assessment by the NHS and on the Liberi 
database did not currently match exactly; Liberi recorded the date on which 
the request for the initial health assessment was made but did not record if 
the request was returned by health. Health data recorded each time a 
request was returned to Specialist Children’s Services, if the request was 
not complete, leading to multiple requests for the same assessment;

c) Ms Smith added that a dedicated officer was now employed in Specialist 
Children’s Services to undertake joint working with the NHS to address the 
issues highlighted above; and

d) foster carers were given advice about helping a young person to sign up 
with a new GP, dentist, sexual health clinic, etc, when they moved to a new 
placement.  Some young people did not want to have a regular health 
assessment as it marked them out as being different from their peers. 
However, as such assessments were a statutory requirement, and must be 
undertaken by a medical practitioner or a specialist Looked After Children’s 
nurse, options for making these less formal were limited. 

2. It was RESOLVED that the information set out in the report and given in 
response to comments and questions be noted. 

Page 10



70. Proposal to develop a Regional Adoption Agency 
(Item 10)

Ms S Skinner, Head of Kent Adoption Service, was in attendance for this item. 

1. Ms Smith and Ms Skinner introduced the report and advised that funding had 
now been secured and the next step was to appoint a project manager. Ms Smith 
and Ms Skinner responded to comments and questions from the Panel, including the 
following:-

a) the establishment of the regional adoption agency was welcomed as it 
formalised the joint working arrangement which had always existed 
between neighbouring authorities to accommodate difficult-to-place 
children.  However, the previous arrangement was broader and could 
involve more partners, whereas the regional adoption agency involved only 
two other partners. Ms Skinner advised that the existence of the regional 
adoption agency would not preclude Kent from seeking placements with 
other authorities or from ‘exporting’ its own adopters, via a national 
register, if they were not first matched with children from Kent, Bexley or 
Medway; they would simply seek to place children with regional adoption 
agency partners before trying elsewhere. Mr Dunkley added that the 
establishment of the regional adoption agency was Kent’s answer to the 
Government’s push to address the need for adopters;

b) asked about the possibility of elected Member involvement in the new 
arrangement, as with the former adoption panels, Ms Skinner explained 
that Member support and involvement was crucial and elected Members of 
the three authorities would be part of the work stream;   

c) the workload of the former adoption panels had been enormous, and some 
Members had withdrawn their involvement in the past due to the onerous 
workload of reading and preparing sufficiently to be able to consider the 
decisions which those panels were asked to make, and because some felt 
they were not qualified to make such decisions. There had also been 
advice given by Barnado’s that this role was not appropriate for elected 
Members; 

d) concern was expressed about the extent to which Kent would benefit from 
the regional adoption agency, compared to the two partner authorities, 
which were much smaller; surely they would benefit more from the 
economies of scale of being able to attract adopters by partnering a large 
authority. Ms Skinner advised that Kent would be able to charge other local 
authorities to use its adopters, and an agreement of the financial 
arrangements between the three partners would form a major part of the 
discussions which were to start shortly; 

e)  Members would need to be given more detailed information about the 
arrangements as the project developed, which Ms Skinner advised could 
take 12 to 18 months, and would need to be able to comment on the 
proposals in order to achieve meaningful input. They should also be able to 
monitor the performance of the new body, once established; and

Page 11



f) asked about Kent’s relationship with its other neighbour authorities, and 
how the number of adopters and children seeking adoption compared 
across the region, Ms Skinner advised that East and West Sussex were in 
the process of forming a regional adoption agency with Surrey and 
Brighton and Hove, which would cover a population of the same size as 
that of Kent, Medway and Bexley.  Authorities such as Oxfordshire and 
Berkshire had already gone live with their regional adoption agencies, and 
Kent could learn from the development work they had undertaken.

2. It was RESOLVED that the information set out in the report and given in 
response to comments and questions be noted, and an update report on the 
proposed development of a Regional Adoption Agency with the London 
Borough of Bexley and Medway Council be submitted to the Panel in six 
months’ time.

Page 12



Thursday 22nd March 2018
Corporate Parenting Panel Update-

On behalf of the Children in Care Councils and Young Adult Council

Meetings with the Super Council and the OCYPC took place in the February school holidays.

Super Council 
In this meeting we explained about the new App MOMO Mind of My Own that is now 
available to use, and members watched a demonstration about how it works. And how to 
use it.
Super Council members thought that MOMO sounded like a really good idea. 
Some of their comments were:
‘MOMO would be good to use if you are worried about something’
‘MOMO could be used to tell your social worker some good news’
‘It would be good to use as sometimes it is hard to say how you are feeling out loud’

The Super Council member also discussed what they would like the aims of their council to 
be this year for 2018. They said the following: 

To help promote MOMO to other Children in Care 
To encourage membership of the Super Council 
To have a trip for just Super Council members
To make a Super Council year book

OCYPC 
At this meeting Family Group Conferencing attended to speak about Life Long Links as they 
wanted to seek the young people’s views of the ‘tool’ that is filled in by a young person at the 
beginning and the end of the project if they are involved. Some of the thing that were said by 
the OCYPC were:

 It looked too professional and formal
 Too many tables
 Would be helpful to have an easy read version
 Have a glossary for words that young people can look at
 Have an example of a filled in form to show the young people
 What about if the worker changes

The members said they would like to see the final version when it’s completed. FGC have 
since reported back to us that they found the OCYPC members opinions really helpful and 
their feedback will be used nationally in redesigned the feedback tool.

They also took part in an ‘make your voices heard’ activity. They had to come up with “The 
most important things that Children in Care should be listened to about” 

OCYPC Members said:
 for social works and carers to listens to what the children want and feel
 Children in Care should have fair pocket money
 Asked are they happy where they live
 Asked who they want to have respite with
 Help with their education
 Is their social worker good at working with them

Young Adult Council Update

At our last YAC meeting we looked at how Specialist Children’s Services can continue to 
measure themselves to ensure we are ensuring that we continue to listen to them. We 
looked at different surveys that are out there to see which ones we thought captured all the Page 13



questions that young people should be asked. YAC liked Coram’s Bright Spots surveys for 
children in care and care leavers.

YAC also discussed their aims for 2018. They would like to organise another fundraiser later 
in year and be more involved with the other children in care councils. We have a meeting 
tonight where we will be looking at the Stigmas associated with being in care, as this has 
been an occurring theme at all 3 councils. We plan to film some of discussions with YAC as 
part of the film we are currently making about stigma. We plan to show the final show piece 
at our Talent Showcase on the 1st June.

The Children’s Commissioner invited a few young people to meet with her and Nadhim 
Zahawi, the Children’s and Families Minister at the House of Commons yesterday evening to 
talk about their views and experiences of the care system. Chelsea, one of our younger 
apprentices and Rob a member of YAC attended along with Jo Carpenter. Chelsea and Rob 
plan to provide a full report in the next Children in Care newsletter, but both felt it was a 
really good experience. They gave a very balanced view about the positives and negatives 
of being in care, and really represented Kent well. 

There was great interest in the care leaver apprenticeship scheme from other local 
authorities who expressed interest in setting up similar schemes.

East Kent Girls Group Update 

The programme is now in it’s fifth week and is running successfully in conjunction with the 
Children in Care Nurses and Canterbury College Hair and Beauty Team. We have a group 
of girls between the ages of 13-17 from the East Kent area, who didn’t know each other 
initially but and are seen as a cohesive group.
Session one covered healthy eating and nutrition. We have also had a session on 
mindfulness and wellbeing, which was really well received. The latest session was delivered 
by a representative from Barnardo’s which looked at healthy and unhealthy relationships. 
The hair and beauty department are offering basic treatments such as hair styling, 
manicures and pedicures each week which the participants enjoy, and gives them a sense of 
pride in their appearance and a confidence boost. 
The participants are forming a good bond with each other and are interacting well with each 
other as well as with the professionals delivering the sessions. The participants appear to be 
enjoying both the hair and beauty sessions and the informative sessions too. We will report 
back further outcomes and plans to carry out this model in other parts of the county at the 
next CPP.

Recruitment and Selection Training Update

As we reported at the last meeting, we are aiming to train as many young people who want 
to be part of our ‘Recruit Crew’. We ran a very successful training session in February, 
where a further 10 young people were trained.
As part of the training session, they learnt about what is expected of them as service users 
when attending an interview panel, the interview and selection process and equality and 
diversity issues, how unconscious bias can influence perceptions.  They also created 
interview questions, took part in a mock interview and assessed the ‘candidates’. 
All the young people were awarded the LASER qualification, ‘Interview Skills for Service 
Users’ which they can now add to their CVs.  They were excited about the possibility of 
sitting on real interview panels in the future and influencing the decision-making process for 
recruiting professionals who work with young people in care.

The next Recruit Crew Training has already been booked and will take place during the May 
half term in Whitstable.

Page 14



Focus Groups:

We are now running termly Focus Groups to ensure we are hearing as many young people 
voices as we can, not just those who are members of the children in Care Councils. 
Most recently ran a consultation and workshop for the redesign of the Kent Cares Town 
website. Young people of all ages created some artwork that will included in the new 
websites design and gave us lots of feedback around what they would like to see on the 
website. The new website will be launched in September at the VSK Awards Ceremony.

Participation days and events over Easter Holidays

Performing Arts Activity Day Wednesday 4th April 2018: 10am-3pm 
Aylesford School & Sports College - Teapot Lane, Aylesford ME20 7JU 

YAC Bowling Thursday 5th March 2018: 5pm-7pm 
Lockmeadow, Hollywood Bowl, Barker Rd, Maidstone ME16 8SF

Performing Arts Activity Day Friday 6th April 2018: 10am-3pm 
Community College Whitstable - Bellevue Road, Whitstable CT5 1PX

16+ Activity Day Monday 9th April 2018: 1pm-8pm  
Kingswood, Grosvenor Hall, Kennington, Ashford, TN25 4AJ For Satnav please use TN24 9JZ

Super Council +OCYPC (West Kent) Tuesday 10th April 2018: 1pm- 4pm 
Arrive at 1pm at the Infozone, 3 Palace Avenue, Maidstone, ME15 6NF
At 2:30pm we will be moving to Lockmeadow, Hollywood Bowl, Barker Rd, Maidstone ME16 8SF 
until 4 pm 

Super Council +OCYPC re-launch (East Kent) Tuesday 12th April 2018: 1pm- 4pm 
Arrive at 1pm at the Quarterdeck youth centre, 15 Zion Place, Margate, CT91 1RP 
At 2:30pm we will be moving to Bugsy’s tenpin bowling, Ethelbert Crescent, Clintonville, Margate, 
Ct9 2DY

Please feel free to pop along to any of these days, we will have lots of children and young 
people of all ages attending. You would be very welcome.

 The Virtual School Talent Showcase will be held on the 1st June 2018.

Please add the 1st June to your diaries (after CPP meeting) We want to share all the great 
things that our Children in Care are achieving, their talents, hobbies and accomplishments. 
We will also be looking at the subject of the Stigma of being in care or being a care leaver. 

Please come along to the Lecture Theatre on the 1st June.

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



By: Roger Gough, Cabinet Member for Children, Young People and 
Education

To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 1 June 2018

Subject: Verbal Update by the Cabinet Member 

Classification: Unrestricted

The Panel is invited to note verbal updates on the following issues:-

1. Lifelong Links events
2. Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children (UASC) update

Page 17

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



By: Roger Gough, Cabinet Member for Children, Young People 
                                      and Education

Matt Dunkley, Corporate Director for Children, Young 
                                      People and Education

To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 1 June 2018

Subject: PERFORMANCE SCORECARD FOR CHILDREN IN CARE

Classification: Unrestricted

Electoral Divisions: All

Summary:

Recommendation:

The performance Scorecard for Children in Care identifies the key 
performance data and targets that need to be monitored to 
promote the best outcomes for children and young people looked 
after by Kent County Council. The latest performance Scorecard 
for March 2018 is attached to this report.  

Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to NOTE 
and COMMENT on the performance data in the Children in Care 
scorecard.

1. Introduction 

1.1 Performance scorecards have been developed within Specialist Children’s 
Services to identify and monitor progress on a range of areas where 
improvements in performance and practice will lead to better outcomes for 
children and young people.

1.2 This report includes the latest Children in Care Scorecard which is for March 
2018.  

2. Context

2.1 The Children in Care Scorecard has been developed to provide the Corporate 
Parenting Panel with an overview of the key performance measures for 
Children in Care. 

2.2 The report is split into sections and includes a range of performance indicators 
and activity information. 

2.4 The Children in Care Scorecard is currently focused on information provided by 
Specialist Children’s Services.  It is intended that performance reports from 
partners will also be shared with Corporate Parenting Panel so that 

Page 19

Agenda Item 8



performance issues can be further understood across organisations resulting in 
improved outcomes for children and young people.

3.    Summary of Performance – March 2018

3.1 The previous CIC Scorecard submitted to Corporate Parenting Panel was for 
January 2018.  During the period January to March 2018 the number of citizen 
CIC reduced by 1, from 1,423 to 1,422 and the number of Unaccompanied 
Asylum Seeing Children (UASC) reduced from 264 to 233, resulting in an 
overall reduction of 32 children in care.  For January 2018 the rate of CIC per 
10,000 Child Population (including UASC) was 49.7, which is below the latest 
published average rate for England of 62.0, and Statistical Neighbours 56.1.  
Both the England and Statistical Neighbour rates are as at March 2017.

3.2 Four of the performance measures in the CIC Scorecard were significantly 
away from the target:

3.2.1 % of CIC for 18 months and allocated to the same social worker 
for the last 12 months.  Performance for March 2018 was 42.3%, 
which is a slight reduction from the previously reported figure of 42.9% 
(January 2018), and below the ‘floor standard’ of 45.0%.   The measure 
covers a rolling 12-month period and two factors have had a significant 
impact on performance for 2017-18.  The restructuring within the 
Disabled Children and Young People’s teams has seen their 
performance fall from 63.8% in March 2017 to 29.8% in March 2018.  
We would expect to see performance for these teams start to improve 
12 months following the start of the restructure, although there will be 
an impact of the transfer of cases at the age of 16 so performance will 
need to be regularly reviewed.  Secondly there have been high rates of 
maternity leave, particularly in the South Kent Children in Care Teams 
who have had 10 Social Workers go on maternity leave in the past 12 
months.  This has resulted in their performance reducing from 59.7% in 
April 2017 to 23.0% in March 2018.

3.2.2 % of Initial Health Assessments (IHA) taking place within 20 
working days of a child coming into care.  Performance for March 
2018 was 76.5%, which is an improvement from the last reported figure 
of 75.5% (January 2018).  Performance against this measure has 
shown month-on-month improvement throughout the year, from a 
starting point of 66.4% in April 2017, but it remains significantly away 
from the target of 90.0%.  The Health Service Target for this measure 
is 85.0%, so following agreement at Corporate Parenting Panel on 22nd 
March 2018, the KCC Target has been reduced to 85.0% for 2018-19. 
Current performance against an 85.0% Target, with a standard 
tolerance level of 10%, would be within an Amber banding.  

3.2.3 % of cases where adoption was agreed as the plan within 4 
months, for those children with an Agency Decision for Adoption.  

Page 20



For the 106 children in this cohort, a sole plan of adoption was made 
within 4 months for 55 children (51.9%).  Of the remaining 51 children, 
20 had adoption as the sole plan within 6 months.  The definition for 
this measure requires adoption to be the sole plan at the 2nd Review, 
which is a maximum of four months of a child coming into care.  For 
some children alternative plans are still being considered after this 
point, and this will be the correct course of action for these children.  

3.2.4 % of Returner Interviews completed within 3 working days for CIC.  
At 74.4% performance for March 2018 has fallen below the floor 
standard of 75.0% for the first time during the 2017-18 reporting year.   
Whilst the performance for this performance measure has decreased, 
the completion of returner interviews for Children in Care (regardless of 
the timescale) is 88.5%, which is above the target of 85.0%.

3.3 Five performance measures have changed RAG banding between the January 
and March 2018 Scorecards.  Those measures showing improved performance 
are:

3.3.1 % off CIC who turned 18 during the month with a health history 
completed.  Performance improved from 97.5% to 100.0%, achieving 
the target and moving the RAG rating from Amber to Green.

3.3.2 Average number of days between court authority to place a child 
and the decision on a match with an adoptive family.  The average 
number of days reduced from 122 days (for the rolling 12 months to 
January 2018) to 110 days in March 2018.  This measure is now 
achieving the threshold set by the Department of Education of 121 
days, which has resulted in a change in the RAG rating from Amber to 
Green.

The three measures where performance decreased were:

3.3.3 % of CIC in Foster Care/Relatives and Friends placements 
(excluding UASC).  Performance dropped from 85.2% in January 
2018 too 84.6% in March 2018, which was just under the target of 
85.0%, therefore moving the RAG rating of this measure from Green to 
Amber.

3.3.4 % of Returner Interviews completed within 3 working days for 
Children in Care.  Performance for this measure reduced from 77.2% 
in January 2018 to 74.4% in March 2018.  This is below the floor 
standard of 75.0% which changed the RAG rating from Amber to Red.

3.3.5 % of CIC posts filled by KCC Permanent Qualified Social Workers 
(excluding the Fostering and Adoption Teams).  In January 2018 
performance against measure was 85.2%, achieving the target of 
85.0%.  For March 2018 the percentage had decreased slightly to 

Page 21



84.3%, moving the RAG rating from Green to Amber.  The reduction 
relates to the equivalent of 1 full-time equivalent Social Worker.

4. Recommendations

4.1 Recommendations:  Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to 
NOTE and COMMENT on the performance data in the Children in Care scorecard.

5. Background documents

None

6. Contact details

Lead Officer
Maureen Robinson
Management Information Service Manager
03000 417164
Maureen.Robinson@kent.gov.uk

Lead Director
Sarah Hammond
Interim Director, Specialist Children’s Services
03000 411488
sarah.hammond@kent.gov.uk

Page 22

mailto:Maureen.Robinson@kent.gov.uk
mailto:sarah.hammond@kent.gov.uk


Publication Date: 24 April 2018

SC SCS Management Information

Kent Specialist Children's Services

Children in Care
Performance Report

Produced by

Mar 2018

Page 23



Guidance Notes

The aim of this indicator is to achieve the highest number/percentage possible.

The aim of this indicator is to achieve the lowest number/percentage possible.

The aim of this indicator is to stay close to the target that has been set.

Children in Care Numerator

Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children Denominator

Becoming Looked After Special Educational Need

Other Local Authority Initial Health Assessment

Year to Date (April to March) Qualified Social Worker

Rolling 12 Months Independent Review Officer

Snapshot Placement Order

Annual Special Guardianship Order

Academic Year to Date (Sept to Aug) M Monthly Figure

http://kccbusiness/sites/FSCMI/SitePages/Contact%20Us.aspx 

R12 IRO

QSW

BLA

IHA

SEN

OLA

YTD

A green arrow indicates that performance has improved this month when compared to last month. 

Depending on the polarity of the indicator, an improvement in performance could either be a 

reduction or increase in numbers/percentage.

Denom

NumCIC

UASC

Key To Abbreviations

A red arrow indicates that performance has worsened this month when compared to last month. 

Depending on the polarity of the indicator, a worsening in performance could either be a reduction 

or increase in numbers/percentage.

An amber arrow indicates that performance has remained the same as last month.

To access the child level data underpinning the figures in this report or to request reports and/or analysis as a one off 

please log a request through the SCS Performance Management site:

Some of the performance indicators on the scorecard are measured using a Year to Date (YTD) approach - April to 

the end of the current month. For the first few months, it is advisable to treat the results of these indicators with a little 

caution as they are often based on a small cohort of children and therefore the percentages can be easily skewed.   

SGO

PO

Child Level Data and Ad hoc Requests

YTD Data

AC YTD

A

SS

Direction of Travel

RAG Ratings

Polarity

T

L

H

G

A

R

No RAG Rating
RAG ratings are not applied to activity based indicators.  Also, if the denominator is lower than 5 no 

RAG rating has been applied.

Floor Standard achieved but Target has not been met: Floor Standards represent the minimum 

level of acceptable performance. Floor Standards are set in Directorate Business Plans and if not 

achieved must result in management action

A red rating indicates that the current performance is signficantly away from the target set: Target 

has been achieved

A green rating indicates that the current performance has met the target that has been set: Target 

has been achieved

Produced by: SC SCS Management Information

Publication Date: 01/05/2018 CIC Performance Report - Mar 2018 Page 2 of 10

Page 24

http://kccbusiness/sites/FSCMI/SitePages/Contact Us.aspx


% of CIC Cases which were reviewed within required timescales H SS 99.1% G 1,599 1,613 98% 99.3% G 99.1% G
% of Children who participated at CIC Reviews H R12M 95.1% G 4,223 4,440 95% 95.1% G 96.4% G
% of CIC for 18 months and allocated to the same worker for the last 12 months H SS 42.3% R 475 1,122 60% 43.4% R 44.2% R
CIC Placement stability: % with 3 or more placements in the last 12 months L SS 11.4% A 188 1,655 10% 12.1% A 11.3% A 10% *

CIC Placement stability: % in same placement for last 2 years H SS 69.4% A 395 569 70% 70.1% A 70.0% G 68% *

% of CIC Foster Care in KCC Foster Care/Rel & Friends placements (exc UASC) H SS 84.6% A 943 1,115 85% 85.2% G 84.6% A
% of CIC placed within 20 miles from home (exc UASC) H SS 78.6% A 1,077 1,371 80% 78.4% A 78.6% A

CIC Per 10,000 population aged under 18 (exc UASC) SS 42.7 1,422    333,045 42.7 42.7 57 **

Number of Kent CIC SS 1,655 1,668 1,422

Number of OLA CIC placed in Kent L SS 1,274 1,272

% of CIC for 18 months and allocated to the IRO for the last 12 months H SS 75.8% 851 1,122 73.7% 79.8%

% becoming looked after within 24 months of previous episode L YTD 14.1% 114 809 13.8% 17.7%

% Open to Youth Offending Services L SS 3.1% 52 1,655 2.7% 3.4%

% in P&V placements L SS 7.0% 116 1,655 6.5% 8.2%

% of Kent CIC Placed Outside of Kent (exc Medway) SS 8.1% 134        1,655 7.9% 6.3%

% of Kent CIC Placed Outside of Kent (inc Medway) L SS 14.4% 238 1,655 14.0% 11.6%

No. of current CIC with a permanent exclusion this academic year L AC YTD 0 0 0

No. on a part-time timetable L SS 15 28 14

% of CIC for at least 12mths and aged 16-18 at month end with Education Status of NEET L SS 15.9% 69 433 17.0% 17.6%

% looked after continuously for 12 months with an SEN Statement or Support/EHCP L SS

% of EHCPs Issued within 20 weeks for EHCP referrals made while child was CIC H AC YTD

% of IHA referrals within 5 working days of becoming looked after H R12M 84.1% A 396 471 90% 84.8% G 84.1% A
% of Initial Health Assessments taking place within 20 working days H R12M 76.5% R 380 497 90% 75.7% R 76.5% R
% of Health assessments held within required timescale H SS 93.0% G 1,151 1,237 90% 93.7% G 94.0% G 89.4% ***

% of Dental Checks held within required timescale H SS 86.7% A 1,073 1,237 90% 88.9% A 87.8% A 83.4% ***

% of CIC who turned 18 during the month with a health history completed H SS 100.0% G 20 20 100% 100.0% G 100.0% G

SDQ Average of Questionnaires Completed Since 1st April (for Current LAC) L YTD 14.0 8,567 614 13.8 14.7

% of cases adoption agreed as plan within 4 mths, for those with an agency decision H R12M 51.9% R 55 106 80% 51.3% R - -
Ave. no of days between bla and moving in with adoptive family (for children adopted) L R12M 320.3 G 31,388 98 426.0 329.2 G - - 593 **

Ave. no of days between court authority to place a child and the decision on a match L R12M 110.3 G 10,365 94 121.0 111.1 G - - 223 **

% of Children leaving care who were adopted (exc UASC) H R12M 16.8% G 98 584 15.0% 16.8% G 16.8% G 14% ***

% where: 8 weeks from 'adoption being made the Care Plan' to 'Agency Decision to adopt' H R12M 87.7% 93 106 87.6% - -

% of sibling groups that were placed together (where the plan was to place them together) H R12M 84.1% 37 44 84.1% - -

% of CIC with a current Agency Decision, not Placed for Adoption L SS 3.5% 58 1,655 3.5% - -

% who ceased to be Looked After who became subject to a SGO H R12M 4.0% 41 1,031 4.0% - -

% who ceased to be Looked After who became subject to a SGO (exc. UASC) H R12M 7.0% 41 584 7.3% - -

% of Returner Interviews completed within 3 working days for CIC H R12M 74.4% R 813 1,093 85% 75.4% A - -

Number CIC with Missing Episode started in the month L M 87 79 82

Number of CIC missing episodes started in the month lasting longer than 48 hours H M 42 27 36

Complaints made by CIC (or on their behalf) during the month L M 4 5

Care Leavers in suitable accommodation (of those we are in touch with) H R12M 93.2% G 1,349 1,448 90% 93.5% G 91.4% G 92.2% ***

Care Leavers in employment, education or training (of those we are in touch with) H R12M 65.6% G 950 1,448 65% 66.0% G 50.4% R 58.6% ***

% of Care Leavers with a Pathway Plan updated in the last 6 months H R12M 96.6% G 1,421 1,471 90% 97.3% G 97.5% G
% of Care Leavers we are in contact with (inc UASC) H R12M 87.2% G 1,433 1,644 85% 87.4% G 90.6% ***

Percentage of Current Care Leavers with a Staying Put Arrangement H SS 4.6% 70 1,513 4.3% 8.0%

% of CIC team posts filled by KCC Permanent QSW (exc Fostering & Adoption) H SS 84.3% A 96.9 114.9 85% 85.1% G - -
Ave Caseloads of social workers in CIC Teams (District Teams Only) L SS 15.9 A 1,587 99.9 15.0 15.6 A - -
Ave Caseloads of IROs L SS 58.2 G 1,655 28.4 70.0 60.9 G 50.0 G

* indicates national figures from 2014/15

** indicates national figures from 2015/16

*** Statistical First Release 2016/17

Mar 2018Scorecard

Indicator

P
o

la
ri

ty Data 

Period

Latest Result and 

RAG Status
Num Denom

Children

Education

Health & Wellbeing

Adoption

Care Leavers

Staffing

Missing Children

Data not available due to new system implementation

Complaints

Target for 

17-18

N
at

io
n

al
 

P
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 

(E
n

gl
an

d
 R

at
e)

Excluding UASC
Last month's result

and RAG Status

Produced by: SC SCS Management Information

Publication Date: 01/05/2018 CIC Performance Report - Mar 2018 Page 3 of 10

Page 25



Age Female Male Grand Total Disability* Female Male Grand Total

0 27 38 65 Autism or Asperger's syndrome 12 49 61

1 19 13 32 Behaviour 8 43 51

2 15 17 32 Communication 7 18 25

3 12 13 25 Consciousness 8 9 17

4 11 17 28 Hand Function 1 1 2

5 16 20 36 Hearing 3 6 9

6 15 16 31 Incontinence 3 8 11

7 13 23 36 Learning 29 53 82

8 27 30 57 Mobility 13 12 25

9 33 46 79 Personal Care 3 7 10

10 37 46 83 Vision 6 7 13

11 42 61 103 Other DDA 6 14 20

12 46 51 97 None 581 888 1469

13 46 80 126

14 56 73 129

15 63 94 157 UASC? Female Male Grand Total

16 79 150 229 Yes 10 223 233

17 79 231 310 No 626 796 1422

Grand Total 636 1019 1655 Grand Total 636 1019 1655

Nationality Female Male Grand Total Ethnicity Female Male Grand Total

Afghanistani 77 77 A1 - White British 543 672 1215

Albanian 15 15 A2 - White Irish 3 2 5

Bangladeshi 1 2 3 A3 - Any other White background 19 51 70

Belgian 1 1 A4 - Traveller of Irish Heritage 1 1

British 597 748 1345 A5 - Gypsy/Roma 7 8 15

Chinese 1 1 B1 - White and Black Caribbean 13 22 35

Congolese 1 1 B2 - White and Black African 2 8 10

Czech 6 1 7 B3 - White and Asian 6 5 11

Egyptian 10 10 B4 - Any other mixed background 20 9 29

Eritrean 3 61 64 C1 - Indian 4 4

Ethiopian 3 3 C2 - Pakistani 1 1

German 1 1 C3 - Bangladeshi 1 2 3

Ghana 1 1 C4 - Any other Asian background 4 29 33

Guinean 1 1 D1 - Caribbean 1 1 2

Indian 1 1 D2 - African 10 77 87

Iranian 13 13 D3 - Any other Black background 1 3 4

Iraqi 15 15 E1 - Chinese 1 1

Irish 2 4 6 E2 - Any other ethnic group 5 124 129

Ivorian 1 1 Grand Total 636 1019 1655

Jamaican 1 1

Kuwaiti 1 1

Latvian 5 1 6

Lithuanian 1 6 7

Nepalese 1 3 4

Nigerian 1 3 4

Not Recorded 5 2 7

Omani 1 1

Pakistani 1 1

Polish 6 6

Portugese 1 1

Slovak 4 11 15

Slovenian 1 3 4

Sri Lankan 1 1 2

Sudanese 4 4

Syrian 7 7

Turkish 1 1

Vietnamese 5 12 17

Grand Total 636 1019 1655

Demographic Breakdown for Kent LAC as at 31/03/2018

*  If a child has more than 1 disability recorded they will be counted more than once in the table

Produced by: SC SCS Management Information

Publication Date: 01/05/2018 CIC Performance Report - Mar 2018 Page 4 of 10

Page 26



Referrals

Trend Graphs

* Data between Sep 2013 and Mar 2014 is not available as reporting was suspended due to the implementation of a new system.

** An exercise was undertaken to re-open closed cases with care leaver status in 2016 reporting year, therefore, these figures do show an increase

1,000

1,050

1,100

1,150

1,200

1,250

1,300

1,350

1,400

Mar
13

Jun
13

Sep
13

Dec
13

Mar
14

Jun
14

Sep
14

Dec
14

Mar
15

Jun
15

Sep
15

Dec
15

Mar
16

Jun
16

Sep
16

Dec
16

Mar
17

Jun
17

Sep
17

Dec
17

Mar
18

OLA LAC in Kent over the last 5 years

0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

12%

14%

16%

Mar
13

Jun
13

Sep
13

Dec
13

Mar
14

Jun
14

Sep
14

Dec
14

Mar
15

Jun
15

Sep
15

Dec
15

Mar
16

Jun
16

Sep
16

Dec
16

Mar
17

Jun
17

Sep
17

Dec
17

Mar
18

% of CIC with 3+ placements in 12 months over the last 
5 years*

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

Mar
13

Jun
13

Sep
13

Dec
13

Mar
14

Jun
14

Sep
14

Dec
14

Mar
15

Jun
15

Sep
15

Dec
15

Mar
16

Jun
16

Sep
16

Dec
16

Mar
17

Jun
17

Sep
17

Dec
17

Mar
18

LAC over the last 5 years UASC

Citizen

850

900

950

1,000

1,050

1,100

1,150

Mar
13

Jun
13

Sep
13

Dec
13

Mar
14

Jun
14

Sep
14

Dec
14

Mar
15

Jun
15

Sep
15

Dec
15

Mar
16

Jun
16

Sep
16

Dec
16

Mar
17

Jun
17

Sep
17

Dec
17

Mar
18

LAC placed in KCC Foster Care over the last 5 years

0

50

100

150

200

250

Apr
15

Jun
15

Aug
15

Oct
15

Dec
15

Feb
16

Apr
16

Jun
16

Aug
16

Oct
16

Dec
16

Feb
17

Apr
17

Jun
17

Aug
17

Oct
17

Dec
17

Feb
18

CIC Placed Outside Kent (exc Medway)
over the last 3 years

UASC

Citizen

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

Apr
15

Jun
15

Aug
15

Oct
15

Dec
15

Feb
16

Apr
16

Jun
16

Aug
16

Oct
16

Dec
16

Feb
17

Apr
17

Jun
17

Aug
17

Oct
17

Dec
17

Feb
18

% Leaving Care over the last 3 years
SGO

Adoption

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

1,400

1,600

1,800

Apr
15

Jun
15

Aug
15

Oct
15

Dec
15

Feb
16

Apr
16

Jun
16

Aug
16

Oct
16

Dec
16

Feb
17

Apr
17

Jun
17

Aug
17

Oct
17

Dec
17

Feb
18

Care Leavers**
UASC

Citizen

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

500

Apr
15

Jun
15

Aug
15

Oct
15

Dec
15

Feb
16

Apr
16

Jun
16

Aug
16

Oct
16

Dec
16

Feb
17

Apr
17

Jun
17

Aug
17

Oct
17

Dec
17

Feb
18

CIC Placed Outside Kent (inc Medway)
over the last 3 years

UASC

Citizen

Produced by: SC SCS Management Information

Publication Date: 01/05/2018 CIC Performance Report - Mar 2018 Page 5 of 10

Page 27



Data source: VSK. Figures shown are number of children

Multiple Attendance Factors March 2018

Multiple Attendance Factors February 2018

Key: 
CSE  Child Sexual Exploitation PA  Persisent Absence RTT  Reduced Timetable
Exclusions figures include children with temporary suspensions

Education Factors for Kent LAC as at 31/03/2018 and comparison with previous month

Produced by: SC SCS Management Information

Publication Date: 01/05/2018 CIC Performance Report - Mar 2018 Page 6 of 10

Page 28



Definition

Apr 17 May 17 Jun 17 Jul 17 Aug 17 Sep 17 Oct 17 Nov 17 Dec 17 Jan 18 Feb 18 Mar 18 Ave

+7.1% +7.1% +7.4% +5.8% +5.6% +2.2% +4.1% +5.7% +4.6% +3.3% +3.1% +1.8%

Number of cases held not held for 12 months for those who have been LAC for 18 months or more split by age

Number and Percentage of cases held not held for 12 months for those who have been LAC for 18 months or more

Maintaining the consistency of the Social Worker for children and young people is a key priority for Specialist Children’s Services.  

The outturn position for this measure was 51.5% but over the past six months this performance has dropped to an average of 

44.0%.  In March 2018, as performance is below 45%, which is the minimum level of performance set against the target of 60%, a 

Red RAG rating has been applied to this measure.

The drop in performance is a result of two main factors: the restructuring of the Disabled Young People’s teams, where 

performance for these teams reduced from 63.8% in March 2017 (prior to the restructure), to 29.8% in March 2018 and a drop in 

performance for South Kent resulting from a high number of staff on maternity leave, reducing performance for South Kent from 

58% in March 2017 to 23.0% in March 2018.

Commentary

CIC for at least 18 months who've had the same Social Worker for 12 months 

(Inc. UASC)

5 Year trend graph (Apr 13 - Mar 18) Last 12 months

% Difference between exc. 

and inc. UASC

PID Reference

Current RAG Red - 42.3%

Theme Children

30%

35%

40%

45%

50%

55%

60%

65%

70%

75%

80%

RAG - Red Zone RAG - Amber Zone RAG - Green Zone Kent exc. UASC Kent inc. UASC

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

11
83

293

1351

14

110

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

0-4 Yrs 5-9 Yrs 10-15 Yrs 16+ Yrs

UASC Citizen

Maidstone AIT & FST
95

15%

Tonbridge AIT & FST
121
19%

North Kent CIC
84

13%

East Kent Can-Swa CIC
165
25%

East Kent Tha CIC
110
17%

South Kent CIC
34
5%

West Kent CIC
25
4%

Disability EK
2

0%

Disability WK
11
2%

Produced by: SC SCS Management Information

Publication Date: 01/05/2018 CIC Performance Report - Mar 2018 Page 7 of 10

Page 29



Definition

Apr 17 May 17 Jun 17 Jul 17 Aug 17 Sep 17 Oct 17 Nov 17 Dec 17 Jan 18 Feb 18 Mar 18 Ave

+2.3% +0.8% +0.9% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% +0.3%

% of Initial Health Assessments taking place within 20 working days

Theme Health & Wellbeing

This is an improving indicator.  There are robust partnerships in place between Health and SCS to deliver and ensure there is 

ongoing scrutiny of the timeliness and capacity for initial health assessments.  This partnership is delivering improvements to the 

completion of the health assessments.  Both agencies are aware this focus and scrutiny needs to continue so this indicator moves 

to a 90% completion rate.

The provider is subject to an Improvement Notice.

PID Reference

Current RAG Red - 76.5%

Of the Children in Care who became looked after and therefore whose Initial Health Assessment was 

due in the period, the percentage of those whose Initial Health Assessment took place within 20 

working days of the date they became looked after.

Commentary

Last 12 months

% Difference between exc. 

and inc. UASC

Number of children whose Initial Health Assessment took place more than 20 working days after their period of care started 

by age and legal status

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

RAG - Red Zone RAG - Amber Zone RAG - Green Zone Kent exc. UASC Kent inc. UASC

4 4

21 21

31

9

18

9

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

0-4Yrs 5-9Yrs 10-15Yrs 16+Yrs

In Care Accommodated

151

76
90

63

32

12

27

14

3

1

12

16

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

200

0-4Yrs 5-9Yrs 10-15Yrs 16+Yrs

No Date Recorded Outside Timescale Within Timescale

Produced by: SC SCS Management Information

Publication Date: 01/05/2018 CIC Performance Report - Mar 2018 Page 8 of 10

Page 30



Definition

% of cases where Adoption was agreed as the plan within 4 months (Children 

with an Agency Decision)

Theme Adoption

The definition for this measure requires Adoption to be the sole plan at the 2nd Review, which is a maximum of four months 

after a child becomes ‘Looked After’ by the Local Authority.   Some children will however have had more than 2 reviews within 

this timescale.  For a number of children alternative plans were still being considered at the second review and this will be the 

correct course of action for these children as reunification to parents or extended family options will be being considered.

For 51 children over the rolling 12 month period a decision on Adoption as the plan for permanence was not agreed by four 

months of them coming into care.  For 11 of these children the decision was in the fourth month, so just outside of the timescale.  

Timeliness of decision making in the adoption process is closely tracked by the Adoption Service who will escalate any concerns 

to the relevant Service Manager.

PID Reference A01

Current RAG Red - 51.9%

Commentary

5 Year trend graph (Apr 13 - Mar 18) Last 12 months

Number of children where adoption wasn't agreed as the plan within 4 months by age and gender

Number of children where adoption wasn't agreed as the plan within 4 months by how many months it took for to be agreed

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

RAG - Red Zone RAG - Amber Zone RAG - Green Zone Kent

50%

55%

60%

65%

70%

75%

80%

85%

90%

95%

100%

Adtoption not agreed as sole 
care plan

2
4%

4th month
11

21%

5th month
9

18%

6th month
8

16%

7th month
5

10%

8+ months
16

31%

10

1
4

2
5

1

5

8
4

2

2

5

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

0 1 2 3 4 5

Female Male

Produced by: SC SCS Management Information

Publication Date: 01/05/2018 CIC Performance Report - Mar 2018 Page 9 of 10

Page 31



Definition

Last 12 months

Commentary

This indicator shows the percentage of CIC Missing Children Returner Interviews that were 

completed within 3 working days of the missing episode ending.
PID Reference

Current RAG Red - 74.4%

Returner Interviews Completed Outside of Timescale by How Far Out of Timescale the Interview Was

At 74.4% this performance measure is just below the lower floor standard of 75.0%, resulting in a Red rating being 

applied.  The target for this measure is 85% and this has not been achieved during the year.  When reviewing the 

performance against this measure there are a couple of factors which should be noted.  Firstly the completion rates 

for Returner Interviews are high with 88.5% being achieved in March 2018.  There is no comparative data available 

for other local authorities on the timeliness of returner interviews and the target of 85% may be ambitious.  

Secondly there are issues with the processes within the IT system which will prevent a returner interview from being 

added if the missing episode has been finalised and the ability to correct this is limited.  This will result in an under-

reporting of the true performance against this measure.

% of Returner Interviews completed within 3 working days for CIC

Theme Missing Children

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

RAG - Red Zone RAG - Amber Zone RAG - Green Zone Kent

39

22
8 10 10 10

28

9 10 5 2 1

90

36

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

200

1 day 2 days 3 days 4 days 5 days 6 days 1-2 weeks 2-3 weeks 3-4 weeks 1-2
months

2-3
months

>3 monthsRI Did Not
Take Place

No
Complete

Form
Recorded

Produced by: SC SCS Management Information

Publication Date: 01/05/2018 CIC Performance Report - Mar 2018 Page 10 of 10

Page 32



From: Roger Gough, Cabinet Member for Children, Young People and Education

Matt Dunkley, Corporate Director for Children, Young People and 
Education

To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 1 June 2018 

Subject: REVIEW AND UPDATE OF THE SUFFICIENCY, PLACEMENTS AND 
COMMISSIONING STRATEGY - 2015-2018

Classification: Unrestricted

Summary: This report provides the Corporate Parenting Panel with a progress update 
of the Sufficiency, Placements and Commissioning Strategy.  

Recommendation: Corporate Parenting Panel is asked to NOTE the progress against the 
strategy and the plan to develop a new strategy for 2019 onwards.

1. Introduction 

1.1 The KCC Sufficiency, Commissioning and Placements Strategy 2015-2018, was endorsed 
by the Corporate Parenting Panel in 2015. A review and update of the strategy was 
presented to the Board in January 2018.

1.2 This report provides the latest update on progress on the current strategy and outlines key 
developments which will inform the next sufficiency strategy from 2019 onwards.

2. Financial Implications

2.1. The authority makes a significant financial commitment of £31m to meet its statutory 
responsibilities to provide a sufficiency of accommodation for Children in Care and Care 
Leavers.  This includes the provision of residential placements, independent fostering 
agency placements, semi-independent and shared accommodation and housing related 
support. 

2.2. A “Total Placement Service” programme of work is in implementation to drive better value 
in delivering the KCC Sufficiency strategy.  The programme will enable more accurate 
forecasting of future trends and be used to inform and develop a new sufficiency strategy 
from 2019. The project will help to establish spend and the varying costs of statutory 
placements and ensure a transparent and consistent process going forward. The aim is to 
bring the purchasing of all placements into one service, to ensure robust and consistent 
practice, to forecast more accurately and to better forward plan and develop the market of 
provision.

3. Review of Current Performance - Sufficiency, Placements and Commissioning 
Strategy (2015-18)  

3.1 The current Sufficiency Strategy outlines four challenges; delivery of which is measured by 
the achievement against the eight measures as set out at Appendix 1. 

Page 33

Agenda Item 9



3.2 The table outlined below provides a summary of the challenges and supporting measures. 

Table 1: Sufficiency Strategy – Key Challenges and Supporting Measures

Challenge 1:  
The need for effective support and practice to 
ensure that as many children as possible are 

able to remain living at home with their families

Measure 1: We will expect to see a constant 
number of Children in Care maintained in the 
context of increased demand and activity

Challenge 2:
Provision of effective support and availability of 
suitable accommodation to meet the needs of 

Care Leavers

Measure 2: We expect to see an increase in 
the percentage of Care Leavers who are living 
in suitable independent accommodation

Measure 3: We expect to see an increase in 
the number of children placed within 20 miles 
of their originating address for Children with 
Disabilities and those in the west of the county

Measure 4: We expect to see the percentage 
of children remaining in the same placement 
for two years to remain stable

Challenge 3:  
Access to high quality placements that support 
children in care to have stability and to achieve 

positive outcomes

Measure 5: We expect to grow and diversify 
the skill, capability and capacity of our in house 
foster carers
Measure 6: We expect to see a reduction in 
the number of Children in Care that have three 
or more placement moves per year

Measure 7: We expect to see a continued 
reduction in the length of time it takes between 
entering care of the Local Authority and an 
Adoption Order being granted. 

Challenge 4:
Quality of practice and support to meet the 
needs of Children in Care, improving their 

experience of care and achieving permanence

Measure 8: An increase in the number of 
children in permanent long term fostering 
placements

3.4 The current performance dashboard is attached at Appendix 1.

3.5 On the whole, progress against the 8 measures has improved or remained stable, 
building on a gradually improving picture over the last year. There has been a decrease 
in the performance of measure 3 and measure 5. The Fostering Service have been 
addressing this issue, as outlined below. These actions along with the market review and 
implementation of the Total Placement Service will be used to inform the strategy for the 
remaining part of 2018 and the development of the new strategy from 2019.

Page 34



3.6 In order to improve performance in relation to measure 3, Kent Fostering have expanded 
the Specialist Fostering Team for Disabled Children to enhance the support package that 
can be offered to foster carers of disabled children. This has enabled the team to 
facilitate additional support groups, conferences, training and activity days for children, to 
improve our retention of our existing carers and promote the recruitment of new carers 
into the service. The Fostering Service have Foster Carer Ambassadors, who specialise 
in caring for children with a disability, that support to recruit new carers in all areas of 
Kent. 

3.7 A market review has been undertaken which identifies the current provision, the profile of 
children placed away from home and the associated costs. A market strategy is in 
development which will be used to inform the next sufficiency strategy. Engagement will 
now take place with current providers to review the potential to expand provision in Kent.

3.8 Kent’s longest standing foster carers providing short breaks recently received recognition 
for their work on national television. This will be used for further recruitment and 
promotional opportunities locally. To improve the indicator for the West area, Kent 
Fostering have undertaken a targeted recruitment campaign in this area including leaflet 
drops into all primary age children’s school book bags and radio adverts, which has 
increased the attendance at our information events. This has also been undertaken in 
North Kent and will be replicated across the county in 2018.   

3.9 Since the requirement for a sufficiency strategy was first introduced by Government in 
2011, Kent has undergone significant change in the numbers of children in care and care 
leavers, including the challenges presented with the significant rise in numbers of 
unaccompanied asylum-seeking children and young people in 2015/16. To enable a 
more integrated approach to planning, a review of accommodation-based support for 
Care Leavers and Vulnerable 16/17 year has established demand across the sector, the 
gaps and the strengths and the potential to reshape current provision including new 
opportunities through the provision currently known as Housing Related Support. A 
procurement process will commence shortly to recommission this provision and ensure 
priority is given to homeless 16/17-year olds, Care Leavers and Children in Care.

3.10 In April 2018, the implementation of the Total Placement Service began, which brings 
together the function of matching children and young people to appropriate placements 
into one team. The vision is for one central team to source all placements for children 
and young people using accurate date regarding the availability of in house fostering 
placements across Kent.   Phase One of the service has been achieved, with Social 
Work staff from the Fostering area support teams now co-located with what was 
previously the Access to Resources Team. This enables the searching and matching of 
in-house foster placements to be sourced centrally along with external placements.  By 
the end of 2018, Phase Two and Three of the new service will be implemented. This will 
be bringing in the function of sourcing external short breaks placements for disabled 
children and the provision of accommodation for the Care Leavers service.

 
4. Conclusion

4.1 Performance against the key measures of the 2015-18 sufficiency strategy is broadly good 
but with on-going improvements needed in two areas (In house Fostering and local 
placements for Disabled Children). The new sufficiency strategy for 2019 onwards will take 
account of these issues as well as the learning from the development of the Total 
Placement Service and the market engagement currently underway to reshape the market.

Page 35



5. Legal Implications

5.1   The strategy meets the requirements of The Children Act 1989 and all other relevant 
Legislation. 

6.     Recommendations

6.1 Corporate Parenting Panel is asked to NOTE the progress against the strategy and the 
plan to develop a new strategy for 2019 onwards.

7.   Background Documents

Kent County Council’s Sufficiency, Placement and Commissioning Strategy, 2015-2018: 
http://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-policies/childrens-social-care-and-
families-policies/children-in-care-sufficiency-strategy

     

      Lead Director
Sarah Hammond 
Interim Director, Specialist Children’s Services
sarah.hammond@kent.gov.uk 

Lead Officers

Caroline Smith
Interim Assistant Director for Corporate Parenting
caroline.Smith@kent.gov.uk

Karen Sharp
Head of Commissioning Portfolio Children and Public Health
karen.sharp@kent.gov.uk 

Page 36

http://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-policies/childrens-social-care-and-families-policies/children-in-care-sufficiency-strategy
http://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-policies/childrens-social-care-and-families-policies/children-in-care-sufficiency-strategy
mailto:sarah.hammond@kent.gov.uk
mailto:caroline.Smith@kent.gov.uk
mailto:karen.sharp@kent.gov.uk


Appendix One: Sufficiency, Placements and Commissioning Strategy 2015-18 – Performance Summary June 2018

P
age 37



P
age 38



From: Roger Gough, Cabinet Member for Children, Young 
People and Education

Matt Dunkley, Corporate Director for Children, Young 
People and Education

To: Corporate Parenting Panel -    1 June 2018

Subject: REVISION OF RATES PAYABLE AND CHARGES 
LEVIED FOR CHILDREN’S SERVICES IN 2018-19 

Classification: Unrestricted 

Past Pathway of Paper: Children’s, Young People and Education Cabinet 
Committee, 8 March 2018

Cabinet Member decision – record of decision attached 
as Appendix 2

Electoral Division:   All

Summary:   

This paper sets out the revision to the rates payable and charges levied for 
children’s services within Kent for the 2018-19 financial year.  

Recommendation(s):

The Corporate Parent Panel is asked to Note the decision taken by the Cabinet 
Member for Children, Young People and Education in March 2018 to: 

(i) APPROVE the changes to the rates payable and charges levied for 
Children’s Services in 2018-19 as detailed in section 2 of this report.

(ii) NOTE both the changes to the following rates that are dictated by external 
agencies: Inter-agency charges and Essential Living Allowance and; any 
charges to other Local Authorities for use of in-house respite residential beds 
are to be calculated on a full cost recovery basis.

(iii) DELEGATE authority to the Corporate Director of Children, Young People 
and Education, or other nominated officer, to undertake the necessary 
actions to implement the decision.

1. Introduction 

1.1 This report is produced annually and seeks approval for the Council’s rates 
and charges levied for the forthcoming financial year.

1.2 The report distinguishes between these rates and charges over which 
Members can exercise their discretion and those which are agreed 
nationally.

Page 39

Agenda Item 10



1.3 In relation to those rates and charges where Members can exercise their 
discretion, we have traditionally increased these annually in line with the 
annual CPI increase.  In recent times, as CPI has been so low, a hybrid 
blended model has been adopted which included CPI and the average 
percentage increase for KCC pay performance.  The CPI increase between 
September 2016 and September 2017 is +3% and we believe this 
represents a fair and responsible percentage increase and have therefore 
reverted to using solely CPI as the inflation indicator. 

1.3 The effective date for these rate changes is 1 April 2018 and they will apply 
until 31 March 2019 or until a decision is taken to revise these rates further, 
whichever is sooner.

1.4 In relation to the increases to the rates we pay, additional funding has been 
included within the Directorate’s 2018-19 budget proposals, under the 
heading “Inflation - Children’s Social Care” at just under £1.5m.  This 
calculation includes the a +3% uplift for all in-house fostering and associated 
payments.

2. Rates payable and charges levied for Children’s Services

2.1 The remainder of this report set out the methodology for each rate increase.  
Attached at appendix 1 is a list of all rates and charges for 2018-19 
compared to the approved 2017-18 rates and charges.

2.2 Adoption Service Charges

Inter-Agency Charges – Voluntary Adoption Agencies and Local Authorities

The inter-agency fee for adoption was first introduced in 1992 to reflect the 
expenditure incurred in family finding, preparation and placement of 
children. These charges are agreed by the following; Local Government 
Agency (LGA), Consortium of Voluntary Agencies (CVAA), Association of 
Directors of Children Services (ADCS) and Society of Local Authority Chief 
Executive (SOLACE) and therefore are not within our discretion to alter. The 
rates for 2018-19 remain unchanged from those published in 2014-15.

Local Authority
One Child £27,000
2 Siblings £43,000
3+ Siblings £60,000

Voluntary Adoption Agencies
One Child £27,000
2 Siblings £43,000
3 Siblings £60,000
4 Siblings £68,000
5 Siblings £80,000

Page 40



Review of the Interagency Fee
 

Last year, ADCS, CVAA and LGA issued a joint statement on the future of 
the interagency fee.  This statement recognised the changing landscape of 
adoption, with the move towards regional adoption agencies and the need to 
offer some clarity on the interagency fee going forward.  ADCS, CVAA and 
LGA also committed to reviewing the level at which the interagency fee is 
set.  We await the review findings.

2.3 Foster Care Payments

a) Maintenance

The Council has traditionally maintained a direct link to the Department for 
Education (DfE) published fostering rates.   The DfE published have now 
published their 2018-19 Fostering Rates (https://www.gov.uk/foster-
carers/help-with-the-cost-of-fostering)

The figures in the table below have been calculated by taking the DfE 
published rates, dividing by 52 and multiplying by 56.  This provides an 
additional four weeks of funding to Kent foster carers to cover holidays, 
birthdays, religious observations and Christmas.  

2018-19 Minimum 
weekly rates

All placements under 2 years old £150.77
All placements 2 to 4 years old £155.08
All placements 5 to 10 years old £172.31
All placements 11 to 15 years old £196.00
All placements over 16 years old £230.46

Please note that these rates also apply to Permanency Arrangement Orders 
payments within Children’s Services e.g. Adoption and Special 
Guardianship Orders.

b) Reward Element

An increase of +3.0% based on the CPI rate for 2018-19.

 Non-related placements for 0 to 8 years old £113.60 per week
 Non-related placement for 9 to 18 years old £215.77 per week

c) Disability Enhancement

An enhancement will be paid to all foster carers of disabled children whose 
case is open to the Disabled Children’s Service or Sensory Loss Team.  An 
assessment is undertaken by the child’s social worker to determine the level 
of needs, presented to the funding panel.  The enhancement rate is to be 
reviewed on a yearly basis.  There are currently two rates:

Page 41

http://adcs.org.uk/care/article/adoption-inter-agency-fee-adcs-cvaa-lga-statement
https://www.gov.uk/foster-carers/help-with-the-cost-of-fostering
https://www.gov.uk/foster-carers/help-with-the-cost-of-fostering


Standard – Carers will receive an enhancement payment of 30% uplift of 
the higher reward element.  

This equates to a rate of £64.73 per week.

Enhanced – Carers will receive an enhancement payment of 40% uplift of 
the higher reward element.  

This equates to a rate of £86.31 per week.

2.4 Foster Care Skills Based Payments

Payment for Skills was introduced in 2007 and is based on foster carers 
meeting a required level of competence through qualifications and a 
competency framework. This is currently under review, to allow greater 
flexibility for progression through the skills levels, rewarding years of service 
and wider contributions to Kent Fostering, alongside existing training and 
qualifications. The review is being undertaken with the Foster Carer 
ambassadors and Kent Foster Carer Association (KFCA). 

It is recommended that these rates receive an uplift in line with the CPI rate 
+3.0%.  The new rates for 2018-19 are:

Level 2 £21.04 per week

Level 3 £52.58 per week

Any recommended changes following the review would be presented to 
members for agreement before implementation.   

2.5 Specialist Foster Care Payments

a) Single Placement Supplement

This is calculated as twice the age-related reward element

Age 0 to 8 years old £227.20

Age 9 to 18 years old £431.54

b) Therapeutic Fostering Supplement

This scheme ended on 31 March 2018.

2.6 Essential Living Allowance

This is the weekly payment to Care Leavers including Unaccompanied 
Asylum Seeking Children (UASC).  The rate payable is in line with the Job 
Seeking Allowance for a single adult aged under 25 of £57.90 from 1 April 
2018.  Please note that this rate has been frozen at the 2017-18 amount.

Page 42



2.7 Other Local Authority Charges

a) Social work support and assessment

This relates to KCC social workers undertaking work on behalf of other local 
authorities.  The proposed rate for 2018-19 is £72.38 per hour.

b) Administration fee associated with social work support and assessment

This relates to the administration fee to cover the time associated with 
recharging other local authorities, and it is credited to the social work team 
claiming the recharge.  The proposed flat rate for 2018-19 is £20.00 per 
invoice.

c) Residential Respite Service

This relates to a charge we make to other local authorities who place 
children in our in-house respite residential beds.  The value of the charge 
will be agreed by the operational service on an individual home basis, and 
will be calculated based on full cost recovery.

3. Recommendation(s): 

The Corporate Parent Panel is asked to Note the decision taken by the Cabinet 
Member for Children, Young People and Education in March 2018 to: 
(i) APPROVE the changes to the rates payable and charges levied for 

Children’s Services in 2018-19 as detailed in section 2 of this report.
(ii) NOTE both the changes to the following rates that are dictated by external 

agencies: Inter-agency charges and Essential Living Allowance and; any 
charges to other Local Authorities for use of in-house respite residential 
beds are to be calculated on a full cost recovery basis.

(iii) DELEGATE authority to the Corporate Director of Children, Young People 
and Education, or other nominated officer, to undertake the necessary 
actions to implement the decision. 

8. Background Documents (plus links to document)

Report to Children’s, Young People and Education Cabinet Committee on 8 
March 2018 

https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=894&MId=7730&Ver=4

Cabinet Member Decision - 18/00004 - Proposed Revision of Rates Payable and 
Charges Levied by Kent County Council for Children's Social Care Services in 2 
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=2152018-19 

Page 43

https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=894&MId=7730&Ver=4
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=2152018-19


9. Contact details

Report Author

 Simon Pleace
 Finance Business Partner for Children, Young People and Education
 03000 416947
 simon.pleace@kent.gov.uk 

Relevant Directors:

 Matt Dunkley CBE
 Corporate Director for Children, Young People and Education
 03000 416991
 matt.dunkley@kent.gov.uk 

 Sarah Hammond
 Interim Director for Specialist Children’s Services
 03000 411488
 matt.dunkley@kent.gov.uk 

Page 44

mailto:simon.pleace@kent.gov.uk
mailto:matt.dunkley@kent.gov.uk
mailto:matt.dunkley@kent.gov.uk


Appendix 1

Children’s Social Care – Comparison between approved 2017-18 and 2018-19 rates and charges 

Description of Payment/Charge Basis 2017-18 
Rate

2018-19 Rate Movement in Rate

£ £ £ %
Adoption Service Charges

Local Authority
One child per child £27,000 £27,000 £0 0%
2 Siblings per child £43,000 £43,000 £0 0%
3+ Siblings per child £60,000 £60,000 £0 0%

Voluntary Adoption Agencies
One child per child £27,000 £27,000 £0 0%
2 Siblings per child £43,000 £43,000 £0 0%
3 Siblings per child £60,000 £60,000 £0 0%
4 Siblings per child £68,000 £68,000 £0 0%
5 Siblings per child £80,000 £80,000 £0 0%

Foster Care – Maintenance 
All placements under 2 years old Weekly £148.62 £150.77 £2.15 1.4%
All placements 2 to 4 years old Weekly £152.92 £155.08 £2.16 1.4%
All placements 5 to 10 years old Weekly £170.15 £172.31 £2.16 1.3%
All placements 11 to 15 years old Weekly £192.77 £196.00 £3.23 1.7%
All placements over 16 years old Weekly £227.23 £230.46 £3.23 1.4%

Foster Care - Reward
Non-related placements for 0 to 8 years old Weekly £110.29 £113.60 £3.31 3.0%
Non-related placement for 9 to 18 years old Weekly £209.49 £215.77 £6.28 3.0%

Foster Care - Disability Enhancement

P
age 45



Appendix 1

Standard Weekly £62.85 £64.73 £1.88 3.0%
Enhanced Weekly £83.80 £86.31 £2.51 3.0%

Foster Care Skills Based Payments
Level 2 Weekly £20.43 £21.04 £0.61 3.0%
Level 3 Weekly £51.05 £52.58 £1.53 3.0%

Specialist Foster Care Payments
Single Placement Supplement
Age 0 to 8 years old Weekly £220.58 £227.20 £6.62 3.0%
Age 9 to 18 years old Weekly £418.98 £431.54 £12.56 3.0%

Essential Living Allowance
Job Seekers Allowance rate for single adult aged 
under 25

Weekly £57.90 £57.90 £0 0%

Other Local Authority Charges
Fostering services – Social work support and 
assessment

Hourly £70.27 £72.38 £2.11 3.0%

Administration fee associated with social work 
support and assessment

Invoice £10.46 £20.00 £9.54 91.2%

P
age 46



Page 47



Page 48



From:            Roger Gough, Cabinet Member for Children, Young People 
and Education

Matt Dunkley, Corporate Director for Children, Young People 
and Education

To: Corporate Parenting Panel - 1 June 2018

Subject: Virtual School Kent Validated Summer 2017 Results 
Report 

Classification: Unrestricted

Summary: This report provides Members with an update on the 
validated summer 2017 examination results from the 
Statistical First Release (SFR) March 2018

Recommendation: The Corporate Parenting Panel is asked to consider and 
comment on the impact of the Virtual School in relation to its 
performance

1. Introduction

1.1 This report summarises the validated achievements and impact of the Virtual 
School Kent (VSK) through the academic years 2016-17 in relation to 
Children in Care (CiC) and their education. 

1.2 Data is presented on key issues and outcomes across key stages (KS) and 
Not in Education, Employment and Training (NEET) figures.  

1.3 Information on active intervention and engagement support is evidenced as 
well as notable successes during this period.  

1.4 Overall, 2017 was a positive year for Kent’s CiC.  KS2 saw our young people 
achieve their best set of results, with KS4 evidencing some positive 
performances despite the levels of need of this cohort. The VSK was also 
very proud of our KS5 young people where we saw record numbers of our 
young people accessing Education Employment and Training (EET) for the 
third consecutive year.

1.5 2017 Summer cohort
KS1 = 24.1% EHCP and 51.7% receiving Special Educational Needs (SEN) 
29.4% of recorded cohort have high or very high Score and Difficulties 
Questionnaire (SDQ) scores which increases to 41.2% when you include 
slightly raised scores. This cohort also has 5 young people placed out of 
authority.

KS2 = 20.2% EHCP and 62.2% receiving SEN support. 31.5% of recorded 
cohort have high or very high SDQ scores which increases to 48.1% when 
you include slightly raised scores. This cohort also has 1 young person 
placed out of authority.

Page 49

Agenda Item 11



KS4 = 18% EHCP and 52% receiving SEN support and a further 36% 
Unaccompanied Asylum-Seeking Children (five of whom were missing). 
26.3% of recorded cohort have high or very high SDQ scores which 
increases to 32.2% when you include slightly raised scores. This cohort also 
has 19 young people placed out of authority.

2. Validated Results

2.1 Key Stage 1

 

 Kent CiC achieved above the national average for all indicators at key 
stage 1 except mathematics and science where they are broadly in line 
with the national average

 Most encouragingly our young people significantly exceeded the national 
average for both the crucial combined measures of reading, writing and 
maths and reading, writing, maths and science by 7.4%

 The progress made on these priority outcomes from the summer 2016 
outcomes are marked, with between 12.4% and 20.8% progress made in 
each indicator

Page 50



2.2 Key Stage 2

 35.1% of Kent CiC achieved the expected level in combined at the end of 
KS2. This figure indicates the gap between CiC and all learners has 
reduced. Kent CiC outperformed South East average for CiC in every 
single attainment indicator and the national average for CiC in all indicators 
except mathematics at end of KS2

 Outstanding progress in reducing the gap between Kent CiC and national 
all learners in the significant combined measure to just 29.7% which is a 
24% improvement for Kent CiC on last year

 Reduction of the gap between Kent CiC and all learners nationally in 
writing; this is now only at 24%. Historically this has been a weaker subject 
area for CiC and indicates targeted work has reaped results

 Kent CiC achieved 3% higher than the Children Looked After (CLA) 
national progress scores in the combined measure

 Kent CiC beat the national CLA progress figure in every indicator except for 
maths, which it is broadly in line with. However, a higher percentage of 
Kent CiC achieved the higher maths boundary (working at Greater Depth 
within the expected Standard – GDS)

Page 51



2.2 Key Stage 4

 Kent CiC’s average progress eight measure was -1.09 and the national 
CLA figure was -1.18. This negative score indicates the difficulties that our 
children nationally face in making progress from the end KS2 to end KS4. 
However, Kent CiC made more progress than CiC nationally. This progress 
figure was most positively affected by our children’s achievement in ‘other’ 
subjects e.g. the arts

 Over 20% of Kent CiC achieved a four or above in English GCSE and 16% 
of Kent CiC achieved a four or above in Maths GCSE

 Notable individual successes were achieved despite considerable barriers 
for example:
 one UASYP achieved 5 A*-C including English and Maths despite 

being in the country for only approximately 2 years
 One special school student (SEMH with ASD and Learning 

difficulties) achieved 4 GCSE passes 
 One student in Sevenoaks achieved a 4 or above in English and 

Maths - as well as 5 A*-C including English and Maths. She has 
gone on to study at college

 One student at the West Kent PRU achieved 2 GCSEs and a BTEC 
pass despite being placed at home and needing intensive support

2.3 Key Stage 5
EET to NEET indicator

 Year on year improving trend in reducing young people who are NEET

Year Total YP NEET % % change
2015-16 894 38.2 -
2016-17 949 17 -56
2017-18 593 13.8 -19

Page 52



 A significant percentage change of 64% in reducing young people who are 
NEET from 2015-16 to 2017-18

 Twenty Kent Care Leavers attending university currently

 VSK Apprentice Participation Worker achieved a 4 in Maths GCSE this 
summer plus a Level 2 apprenticeship in Business Administration – and is 
now working towards a level 3 in Operational Delivery

3. Challenges in supporting CIC to achieve expected educational 
outcomes

There are well researched and documented reasons why our young people are 
significantly disadvantaged when it comes to achieving educationally in line with 
their peers. The main reasons are listed below: -

 Emotional/Mental Health
 Placement moves/breakdown – mobile cohort
 Stability of education
 Attendance pre-care
 Risk of Exclusions
 Special Educational Needs

The VSK utilises its own resources and the Pupil Premium Plus Grant for CiC 
(PP+) to maximise impact on educational outcomes. Some examples of 
projects/initiatives that aim to support our children to overcome these challenges 
are briefly described below.

3.1 CiC Solihull Training (for professionals supporting children who are fostered or 
adopted)

VSK and CiC Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service (CAMHS) have been 
working together to deliver a joint training delivery programme for professionals 
across primary and secondary schools supporting children who are fostered or 
adopted.

The LAC Solihull training is a behavioural and psycho-dynamic approach and has 
been rolled out in North Kent and West Kent in 2017 - and was delivered in South 
Kent in the autumn term 2018, then in Swale in the spring term 2018. It is 
designed for a multi-agency audience and the aim is to build professionals’ 
capacity to support our vulnerable children as well as the network around them; 
additionally, to develop a new pathway of care within the CiC CAMHS service by 
the CAMHS practitioners going on to deliver the Solihull Approach Groups for 
foster carers to support placement stability.

Page 53



The feedback from baseline and data indicates excellent impact in the South Kent 
training: 95% of the maximum possible gains were achieved from the trainees’ 
starting points progressing to the end of the course in terms of their confidence 
with supporting CiC/adopted children and the professionals around them. Indeed 
100% of trainees said that presentation by the trainers was excellent or good 
(93% said excellent).

3.2 Paired Reading 2017-18 

VSK are currently expanding the Paired Reading Project across the county as the 
outcomes from last year indicated excellent progress in raising standards of 
reading for our Kent CiC. This is a joint approach with Kent Educational 
Psychology Service (KEPS) along with each VSK Locality team.

Foster carers received training in the Paired Reading approach - and did the 
regular reading with the children every week. The results spoke for themselves as 
an average of 10.2 months gain in reading accuracy was made in just 16 weeks – 
and there were also very positive gains made in the foster carer to child 
relationship scale scores.

There were celebration events to mark the successful end of the project including 
a visit from the children’s author Jeremy Strong where he read some of his stories 
and signed books for the children. This event was attended by social workers, 
foster carers, schools and the children. This year it is the aim that at least another 
60 eligible primary children will be involved in this intervention and we look 
forwards to excellent outcomes for this new group across the county.
 

3.3 Kent Nurture Project

VSK is working with The Nurture Group Network to look at ways of building 
capacity in schools to support CiC learners and work preventatively to support 
Inclusion/prevent exclusions.

As part of this project, schools across the county have been undertaking 
accredited training/study with the aim of creating six Nurture Groups (Two 
secondaries and two primaries) in North Kent by September 2018 - and a further 
fifteen in other Kent areas are on track to complete in the next phase. 

3.4 Attachment and Trauma Training

VSK continues to offer this free training to schools, early years settings and 
professional groups. It is usually half day or two twilights and covers the following:

 How secure attachment develops

Page 54



 How childhood developmental trauma can lead to more insecure 
attachment

 Strategies/tools for supporting at whole school, targeted and personalised 
levels

Recommendation: The Corporate Parenting Panel is asked to consider and 
comment on the impact of the Virtual School in relation to its performance

Background documents:  none

Relevant Officer
Author: Tony Doran
Headteacher Virtual School Kent
01233898714
Tony.Doran@kent.gov.uk

Relevant Director
Sarah Hammond
Interim Director Specialist Children's Services
Children, Young People and Education
03000411488
Sarah.hammond@kent.gov.uk 

Page 55

mailto:Sarah.hammond@kent.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



From: Roger Gough, Cabinet Member for Children, Young People and Education

Matt Dunkley, Corporate Director, Children, Young People & Education

To: Corporate Parenting Panel - 1 June 2018

Subject: Corporate Parenting Pilot Scheme: Kent County Council acting 
as a guarantor for Care Leavers

Classification: Unrestricted 

Summary:

Recommendation:

This report provides Members with an overview of progress made on 
the previous challenge card presented to the Panel and agreement 
that KCC, in its role as Corporate Parents, can act as a guarantor for 
our young people leaving care. 
 
Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to NOTE the 
Challenge Card progress to date and agree the pilot scheme details 
to inform a wider policy change.  

1.  Challenge Card Issued

1.1 A challenge was issued by the Young Adult Council (YAC) in June 2017 – ‘if a young 
person over school leaving age decided to be fully independent and work full time 
paying their own rent, would KCC as a 'Corporate Parent' act as the young 
person's guarantor? It was agreed at Corporate Parenting panel on 22nd March 2018, 
that KCC could act in the role of guarantor for our Care Leavers and that the proposal for 
a pilot scheme would be progressed.  

1.2 The Care Leavers Service will begin a 12-month pilot starting on 1st July 2018 and this 
will accept applications from all eligible Care Leavers to a maximum of 25 young people. 
Due to the potential financial risks involved in the pilot to KCC and considering the 
learning from Devon County Council, we are starting the pilot on a small scale, to 
minimise the risks. The aim will be to build the scheme in subsequent years, to be 
accessed by a larger cohort of young people and with a view to the learning underpinning 
a wider policy change in 2019.  

1.3 Devon started their pilot scheme by only offering to be a guarantor for the lower risk 
young people, e.g. those at university, in employment etc. We have listened to the 
feedback from Members on 22nd March 2018, that they would envisage Kent’s pilot 
scheme to be open to all Care Leavers, in order to give a more realistic test in the pilot of 
financial risk but equally to ensure this offer can be accessed by our most vulnerable 
young people, who are likely to have more restricted access to appropriate 
accommodation. 

1.4 The processes to begin the pilot period have been completed, with an application form 
and KCC templates set up. Personal Advisors and the Care Leavers Accommodation 
Team, will receive training to ensure they identify appropriate young people and can 
support them with the application form. The agreement for KCC to act as a guarantor will 

Page 57

Agenda Item 12



be given by the Head of Service for 18plus Care Leavers, who will have overall 
responsibility for the tracking and monitoring of financial implications.  

2. The Offer to be a Guarantor. 

2.1 There is no evidence of a prohibition on a Local Authority acting as a Guarantor. The 
Localism Act 2011 states ‘A local authority has power to do anything that individuals may 
generally do’. The 18plus Care Leavers Service already has in place an offer to care 
leavers to provide them with a rent deposit and one month’s rent in advance, so the 
guarantor offer would be against unpaid rent for the first 6 months of their tenancy.  

2.2 As Guarantor, KCC would have the financial risk that, in the event that the care leaver 
defaulted on their tenancy, including damages, the Landlord could seek to call in the rent 
deposit, lost rental income and reparations, resulting in a financial cost to the Council. A 
care leaver may be given notice to quit their tenancy and may seek KCC to act as 
Guarantor on more than one occasion. The likelihood is that any guarantee called in may 
not be recovered and, therefore, there would be budgetary implications on an ongoing 
annual basis. A 12-month period for a pilot would give an indication for the financial 
implications for future years and the option not to progress the pilot into KCC policy, 
should the financial risk be too high. 

2.3 Our aim with the offer to be a guarantor, is that we can open up the private rental market 
to our young people, strengthening their case and giving them more options of 
accommodation. The 18plus Accommodation Team already have links to the local 
housing forums, where private landlords could be approached. There would also be 
scope to review those young people in both supported and semi-independent 
accommodation, with a view to moving them into better quality independent rental 
properties, which could mean lower costs. 

2.4 The pilot will test out: 

 Financial implications by testing the numbers of young people who default on rental 
payments.

 Whether it opens up more choice of private rental accommodation, in terms of both 
quality and location

 Review of young people in semi-independent accommodation, as to whether any can 
be moved into rental properties by using the enhanced offer of KCC acting as a 
guarantor.  

 Does the Guarantor offer directly impact upon better outcomes for our Care Leavers in 
securing long term quality housing options? 

3. Conclusion

The 12-month pilot will provide enough time to test out the impact of the agreement for 
KCC to act as a guarantor for their Care Leavers and inform any request for a 
permanent policy change.  There would be a mid-way review after six months 
(December 2018) and it is proposed that the findings be presented to Corporate 
Parenting Panel in January 2019. 

Page 58



4.      Recommendations:
Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to NOTE the Challenge Card 
progress to date and agree the pilot scheme details to inform a wider policy change.  

5. Background documents:  none

6. Contact details:

Lead Officer
Caroline Smith
Interim Assistant Director, Corporate Parenting
03000 415091
caroline.smith@kent.gov.uk 

   
Lead Director
Sarah Hammond
Interim Director, Specialist Children’s Services
03000 411488
Sarah.Hammond@kent.gov.uk 

Page 59

mailto:caroline.smith@kent.gov.uk
mailto:Sarah.Hammond@kent.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the meeting of the Panel held on 22 March 2018
	OCYPC update 22 March 2018

	7 Verbal Update by Cabinet Member
	8 Performance scorecard for Children in Care
	Item 8 Appx - CIC Performance Report - Mar 2018

	9 Review and update of the Sufficiency, Placements and Commissioning Strategy - 2015-2018
	10 Revision of rates payable and charges levied for Children's Services in 2018-19
	Item 10 Appx 2 - Rates and Charges in CSC

	11 Virtual School Kent validated summer 2017 results report
	12 Corporate Parenting pilot scheme: Kent County Council acting as a guarantor for Care Leavers

